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IN THE SHADOWS OF THE
HonoORABLE COMPANY

Nicolas Chatelain and the Métis of Fort Frances

VICTOR P. LYTWYN

n the fall of 1875, a group of Métis at Fort Frances met with John
Denme, sur Veyor general of Canada, and agreed tojo'm Treaty 3—th

and Queen Victoria that involved a lalge tract of land in piesent day-
northwestern Ontario and part of eastern Manitoba. Called “half- breeds”

at the time, the Métis were part of what is now called the Métis Nation,

comprising a distinct, self-identifying community with shared cultural

and economic values, They were linked by internal marriages as well

as external ties to other Mélis communities in the Red River region of

present-day Manitoba and other parts of the fur trade notthwest, includ-
ing Fort William and Sault Ste. Marie. They developed their own collec- .
tive identity, elected their own leaders, and entered into political dia-
logues with the Canadian state. Known as the “Halfbreed Adhesion,” the
Fort Frances Métis ‘Treaty promnised reserves, annuities, and other freaty
benefits to the Métis, It was the first treaty agreement in Canada to recog-
nize the Métis as a distinct community with rights to land and other re-
sources on par with the Anishinabeg First Nations who signed Treaty 3.
Led by Nicolas Chatelain, an influential and charismatic veteran of the
War of 1812, the Fort Frances Métis joined the treaty with expectations
that they would be treated the same as the Anishinabeg of Treaty 3.

194




CHATELAIN AND THE METIS OF FORT FRANCES 195

" Chatelain was identified as the chief of the Fort Frances Métis in the

treaty agreement that affirmed tlieir interest or title to land in the Treaty
3 territory. However, within a few years of the treaty adhesion, the gov-
ernment of Canada reversed its position and refused to uphold its treaty
promises. In this chapter T trace the origins of the Fort Frances Métis and
their struggle for recognition as a distinct nation.

Fur Trade Origins

In 1805, the North West Company (NWC) and XY Company merged, set-
ting the stage for a major reorganization of the Montreal-based fur trade
operations. In the aftermath, the NWC closed trading posts and made
deep cuts to its labor force. In 1810, the London-based Hudson's Bay Cont-
pany (HBC) followed suit with a major reorganization of its fur-trading
business in North America. This reorganization, too, led to post closures,
pay cuts, and job losses. In 1821, the HBC merged with the NWC, ending
- decades of fiercely competitive fur trade rivalry and once again signaling
. cost-cutting measures. After opting to keep the HBC name, one of the first
" orders of business was to again cut the new company’s labor force. Within
_three months, 250 men wete discharged,? and five years later more than
‘1300 men were out of a job? Some returned to their homes in Europe
or Canada, and about 15 percent found new homes in the new Red River
settlement in present-day Manitoba.* Many, however, continued to live in
and around the trading posts where they had once been employed. Some
engaged as part-time or seasonal labor for the HBC, whereas others,
known as freemen, lived independently from the company. Many mar-
tied local aboriginal women and raised families in the vicinity of the fur
trade posts.¥ Known as Métis in the Red River area, and “half-breeds” in
other parts of Rupert’s Land, they established communities around many
HBC trading posts. These communities emerged separately around the
fur trade posts but were linked by the fur trade transport routes that
moved people and goods in an ebb and flow from the St. Lawrence valley
_to Red River and the greater northwest. Red River was the hub, but Métis
communities developed along the many spokes of the canoe routes that
spiraled in and out of the fur trade regions of the Great Lakes and North-
“west$ This pattern of Métis ethnogenesis was similar to that described
by Jacqueline Peterson about fur {rade communities south and west of
the Great Lakes.”
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After downsizing its labor force, the HBC increasingly filled new posi-
tions with Métis recruits. By the 1830s, more than 25 percent of its labor
force was native-born, rising to about 6o percent by 1860 The HBC's
labor policy in the nineteenth century was shaped in part by difficulties
in obtaining suitable recruits in Eurbp_e and Lower Canada, However,
the company came to value the services of native-born recruits who
possessed valued skills, such as canoe-building, guiding, and inter-
preting. These skills were obtained from parents who were well versed
in obtaining a livelihood from the land.

Métis settlements were more prominent around the larger trading es-
tablishments of the HBC. These district headquarters maintained rela-
tively large labor forces and continued to demand provisions and other
“country products” that could be supplied locally by freemen and their
families. In the Red River country, Métis communities supplied the HBC
with much-needed provisions. As Nicole St-Onge explained, “This sur-
plus population specialized in the production of commodities indirectly
tied to the fur cconomy. A fluid Métis underclass of bison hunters, fisher-
men and salt makers emerged.”? At Port William, the former grand en-
frepbt (warehouse) of the NWC on Lake Superior, a group of Métis con-

tinued to live in the vicinity of the post long after it faded from being the 7

busy rendezvous it was before 1821, Also known as freemen, they were
employed seasonally as fishermen, hunters, and canoe-builders as well as
in other occupations that required local knowledge and wilderness skills.
The distinction between freemen, “half-breeds,” and Indians was often
blurred in the Fort William records. For example, a man named Louis
Ross was employed by the HBC in 1824-25 and referred to as a “hall-
breed.” In 1835, Louis Ross was called an Indian and hunted with other
Anishinabeg in the Fort William area; in the spring of 1836 he was associ-
ated with a group of freemen led by Michel Collin.'®

The fur trade post on the Rainy River that came to be known as Fort
Frances'! was another place where a Métis community developed in the
early nineteenth century. Fort Frances was located on the north bank of
the Rainy River, just below the Chaudigre {Kettle) Falls {see fig. 7.1), The
falls were circumvented by a portage that cut across a neck of land
formed by a bend in the Rainy River. Fort Frances was the district head-
quarters of the HBC Lac la Pluje (Rainy Lake) district, which included
outposts from Sturgeon Lake in the east to Fort Alexander in the west
(see map 7.1). Before 1821, the Lac la Pluie post was an inportant depot
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Ficune 71, Camp below the Chandi2re Falls at Fort Frances in 1857 By Henry

Y. Hind, Narrative of the Canadian Red River Exploring Expedition of 1857 and of the

" Assinitoine and Saskatchewnan Exploring Expedition of 1858 (Londor: Longman,
Green, Longman and Roberts, 1860), 1:81.

along the NWC’s main transport line into the Northwest. It was here that
canoe brigades from Montreal and the Athabasca country met and ex-
hanged furs and trade goods, which allowed crews from each brigade
“1o return home before the onset of cold weather and the aunual freeze-
p. The Lac la Pluie post also served as a canoe-building center and col-
lection place for provisions such as wild rice, Indian corn, and sturgeon.
Nicholas Garry, visiting the Lac la Pluie post just after the union of the
two companies in 1821, noted the strategic importance of the post, but
predicted its demise under the new regime. He wrote, “The Post of Lac La
Pluie or Rainy Lake before the Union of the two Companies was one of
great Importance. Here the People from Montreal came to meet those who

~ arrived from the Athabascan Country and exchange Lading with them
. ‘Teceiving the Furs and giving the Goods to trade in Return. It will now
‘become a mere trading Post as the Athapascans will be supplied from
York Fort."2 Garry was partially correct in his prognostication. The HBC
“did reorient its transportation network to focus on York Factory and aban-
doned the Montreal trade route that had previously run through Rainy
River. However, the HBC was soon faced with competition in the Rainy
River region from independent traders and the Ametican Fur Company,
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MAP 21, Lac La Pluje District and surrounding region. Map by Victor Lytwyn,
Previously published in Tim E. Holzkamm, Victor P. Lytwyn, and Leo

G, Waisherg, “Rainy River Sturgeon: An Ojibway Resource in the Fur Trade
Economy,” The Canadian Geographer 32, no. 3 (1958), 196,

and this competition necessitated maintaining a larger establisliment in
that area.”® Although the HBC pushed the American Fur Company out of
the Rainy River region in 1833 by.a cash compensation deal, independent
traders from Sault Ste. Marie, Red River, and 5t, Louis continued to oper-
ate in the Rainy River region, The fur trade continued to be a valuable
enterprise in the region long into the nineteenth century, and the Métis
community at Fort Frances was a vital part of the fur trade economy.
After the 1821 coalition, a group of freemen and their families estab-
lished an independent settlement on the Rainy River at the confluence
with the Little Fork River, Vincent Roy, who had previously worked for
the NWC and HBC, established a farn there and attracted others who
had been let go by the company® According to HBC records, he had
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previously been allowed to clear some land beside the old NWC fort (lo-
cated near Fort Frances). In 1823, the HBC manager bought Roy’s claim to
* the land, explaining, “Old Roy was here today agreed to feed his cow
and grind nine bushels of wheat for the spot of land that he cleared
alongside the NW fort—it is true that he cannot sell it to any one but this
is the cheapest mode of purchasing his claims—he was allowed to clear
: 't}ji_s_ spot by the late NWC and dwells in it this summer when he removed
to. the litte forks.?® Roy’s son, Viricent Junior, was described as “a half
ed [who] speaks very little French[,] unacquainted with trade but ac-
ainted with every part of the country and feared by the Natives.”!®
Roy's establishment at the Little Fork River operated until 1837, when he
and others left for Red River and other places. William Sinclair, HBC post
-manager at Port Frances, recorded the end of the “little settlement” in his
~journal entry of June 1, 1837

The tittle settlement of the litle Forks below this, is almost wholly aban-
doned by its inhabitants—one Simon Sayer only remaining to take care
of the remaining property, moveable and immoveable, during the pro-
prietor’s absence [Vincent Roy Jr] now on his voyage to Sault 5t Mary’s,
where he is gone to settle his affairs and squarc his accounts with his
American BEmployers if he can, with whom no doubt and it is hoped he
has made a slick bargain. Old Vincent Roy is also off for Red River, where
he intends to settle and end his well spent life amongst some af his
quondam friends, may he be a good substantial farmer and a more for-
tunate one than hitherto—we wish him all success poor old man, at alt
events he will be more safe from Indian insults and aggressions.”

:While Roy and others moved out of the region, other freemen and
ﬂ_l_e_ir_fanﬁlies stayed in the Fort Frances area and developed a sense of
community in the shadows of the HBC post. The post journals, reports,
and correspondence referred to them as “half-breeds,” and some were
‘employed by the FIBC as interpreters, guides, and clerks.!® Nicolas Chat-
‘elain, the son of French Canadian fur trader Jacques Chatelain and an

" Anishinabeg woman named Josephte, rose to become a leader of the
local Métis community.”® Born around 1792 at Fort William, Chatelain
fought in the War of 1812 and was well respected by Métis and Anishi-
nabeg alike.? In 1825, HBC trader Simon McGillivray described Nicolas
Chatelain as “a Half Breed Interpreter [who] is an acquisition to the
Pogt—speaks the Saulteaux language well and is feared by the natives,
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and is perfectly acquainted with the Geographical part of the country,
particularly to the north side of Lac la Pluie, in short he is a man that
ought not be lost sight of,”?! In 1826, John D. Cameron offered this de-
scription of Nicolas Chatelain:

Nicholas Chatelin (sic), Interpreter. This man is the first of his class in
the Indian Couniry because he is a very sober man, a rare virtue among
Interpreters. Young, hardy & ambitious for the interest of his employ-
ers, Brave & haughty with the Indians, particularly when alone amongst
them. He will suffer more insults from them at the Fort than at their
Lodges. A good Fisherman and ready at every work he is put to. Has
twenty five pounds a year according to contrack but with Governor
Simpson’s approbation is to be allowed five pounds gratuity each year.
Has a wife & two children. Winters with myself.22

Other prominent Métis names in the Fort Frances area included Jour-
dain, Mainville, and Morriseau. Although some were employed by the
HBC, others retained their freeman status. An 1873 account book re-
corded twenty-five freemen with debts owing at Fort Frances, about half
of whom can be positively identified as Métis.2* An 1871 paylist identified
nine men as “Halfbreeds of Fort Frances” (see table 7.1).

Aside from John Linklater, the “half-breeds” of Fort Prances on the 1871
paylist were Catholics who had links to the Ste. Anne Catholic Church in
Ste.-Anne-des-Chenes, Manitoba. Located on the Seine River about 4okilo-
meters west of the forks of the Red and Assiniboine Rivers, Ste.-Anne-des-
Chenes was on a well-fravelled route that connected with Lake of the
Woods and Rainy River.?! The registers of baptisms, marriages, and deaths
there contain nunerous references to people from Fort Frances. The Fort
Frances Métis intermarried within their own community and with those
of Red River and other places, such as Fort William. Tables 7.2 and 73 show
baptisms of people from Fort Fiances in 1873 and 1874, as recorded by
R, M. Racicot, the priest of S5t. Norbert Catholic Parish.

Itis interesting to note that a nuumber of so-called “English half-breeds” =
were recorded in the Ste-Anne-des-Chenes registry books. These in-:
cluded members of the Linklater, Flett, and Calder families, originally Or- :
kney names of men employed by the HBC. By 1871, many of these families -
had mixed with Métis of French Canadian origin. For example, Isabejle *
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TA;BLE 71, “Half-breeds” of Fort Frances

Per Total
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$3 $9
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$3 $217

%3 $10

1 $3 i
49 $r47

Jean Bpt. Jourdain

John Jourdain

Joseph Jourdain

Simon Jourdain

- Louis Jourdain

rancois Mainville

Michel Morrisseau
chiy Linklater?

N L e T T
et R o T T S = R N
G\i-#ND-POHO
[=TN R VLR = B R

=y
oo
5

9

onree: The paylist titled “Hat-breeds of Fort Frances” was compiled 17 October 1871 by
- Ttobert Pither {vol. 7,675, p. 75, RG 10, LAC}, The paylist may have been connected to work

~*done on the transportation route later known as the Dawson Road.

“3Johin Linklater was listed in the 1891 censusas a Presbyterian, and he was likely identified
as an “English Half-breed.” His 1875 scrip application indicated that he was born in 1805 to
4 “Scots” father and an “Indian” woman, Like the so-called “French Half-breeds,” ke had
been employed by the HBC and was likely the son of an Orkney fur trader and Anishinabe
woman. An 1874 map entitled “Pan of Claims between Rainy Lake and Bt. Francis”
showed the claim of John Linklater, with an explanation that sixty acres had been
purchased by Duncan Sinclair {Department of the Interior, Dominion Lands Branch,
Headquatters Correspondence, D1, vol. 232, file 2,808, RG 15, LAC). On 28 May 1877,

}. 8. Dennis reported that Duncan Sinclalr was sent o survey the timber limils granted to
5. H. Fowler on Rainy Lake, and that he purchased a squatter’s right fram a man named
Linklater, who had built a shanty and garden near Part Frances (ibid.).

_ Linklater was married to Joseph Guimond, and Charles Flett was married
- fo Mary Guimond. This situation is similar to the findings of historian

. Irene Spry, who pointed out that some of the children of Red River Or-

'_'-:.__l_sneymen and aboriginal women were fluent in Prench, including James
'-:MCKay, who played a key role in the negotiations leading up to Treaty 3.
Spry noted that “many marriages spanned the alleged gulf between the
. mixed-blood and métis groups.”” The historical data she examined indi-
 cated that the people of Orkney and French Canadian origins were also
connected in business operations, such as trading and freighting, and in
buffalo hunts. The Fort Frances data reveal that the evolution of the Métis
community was complex and came fo incorporate people from various
ethnic backgrounds.
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Other Métis cominunities developed around trading posts within the
¥ort Frances district. At Fort Alexander, for example, Captain John Pal-
liser noted a “half-breed population” when he visited that post in the
summer of 1857.% An anonymous officer in General Garnet Wolseley’s
military expedition of 1870 noted a Métis village near Fort Alexander
and wrote, “The banks of the river are high at this place, and on accownt
of the numerous clearings and nice thatched cottages of Half Breeds, it
presents a very fine appearance.”” When General Wolseley visited Fort
Frances in the summer of 1870, he disparaged the Métis commuuity:
“The half-breed race to which the officers of the Hudson Bay Company at
such posts generally belong now is extremely apathetic—there is no go-
aheadness about it; and in these out-of-the-way localities the half-breeds
quickly go back {o the manners, customs, and mode of living of their In-
dian mothers. They live upon fish as their Indian ancestors did, and, like
them, have no appreciation of the value of cleanliness or order.

Treaty Negotiations

The Wolseley military expedition had been sent from Upper Canada
through the Rainy Lake area, using the old canoe route from Fort Wil-
liam to Red River, in order to defend against an expected Métis uprising
led by Louis Riel. The Red River Métis had resisted the Canadian gov-
ernment’s attempt to survey their lands after the HBC surrendered its
claim to the area. In 1859, Simon J. Dawson, then the surveyor of the Red
River expedition, had first advocated the building of a government trans-
portation rotite using steamboats and wagons.?? Government support was
lacking, however, and by 1869 only twenty-five miles of the “Dawson
Road” had been built west of Fort William 3 The Métis uprising in Red
River spurred development of the transportation route, and many in
Wolseley’s military expedition were recruited to work on the road. The
Red River uprising was arrested, but the Canadian government was
alerted to the need to make treaties with aboriginal people west of Lake
Superior in order to achieve lasting peace,

The Fort Prances Métis possessed interpretive skills that came to be
valued in political meetings between government officials and the An-
ishinabeg. When Simon Dawson was sent by the Canadian government
in 1868 to meet with the Lac Ia Pluie Anishinabeg to discuss the trans-
portation route and other matters, he was assisted by Nicolas Chatelain,’
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‘was then in charge of Fort Prances, Dawson recommended that
Chatelain would be a valuable person to assist in future treaty negotia-
‘tions. He remarked, “There resides at Fort Frances a half-breed of the
‘name of Chatelain, an aged man, who is highly esteemed by the tribe and

‘who, it may be added, has on previous occasions, rendered valuable
‘service in dealing with themn.”! Chatelain knew about the 1850 Robinson
reaty negotiations at Sault Ste. Marie. About a month prior to the treaty,
Chatelain met HBC governor George Simpson at Fort Frances and advised
him that he had a claim to land on Lake Superior because his mother and
randfather were “Indians of the Old Grand Portage.” Simpson wrote to
treaty commissioner William B. Robinson and informed him that he had
‘obtained a power of attorney to act for Chatelain and had in turn given it
-to John Swanston, who was in charge of the HBC post at Sauit Ste. Marie.
Simpson, who was a friend of Robinson’s, told Robinson that Swanston
-had “promised to request your good offices in Securing his claims.”™ Je-
suit missionary Nicolas Frémiot reported that the Métis had been pur-
posely excluded from a meeting that had been organized by HBC chief
ttader John Mackenzie. Frémiot confided to his superiors, “The meeling
egan with a roll call from the list prepared the evening before by
Mackenzie. The half-breeds were passed by in silence, for they have
he right to speak at such gatherings. Is this wise? Do some people
“fear that they, better informed than the Indians themselves, might beina
better position to defend their rights?”?> Although treaty commissioner
‘William B, Robinson had vetbally promised the Sault Ste, Marie Métis
hat their lands would be protected, the government failed to live up to
that promise after 18503 Chatelain’s specific request for inclusion in the
‘treaty also fell on deaf ears.
Chatelain and others at Fort Frances were also probably aware of the
‘trealy negotiations in the United States that had included Métis. For ex-
‘ample, the 1830 treaty at Prairie du Chien included an article demanded
by the Sioux Nation that set aside a tract of land for the “half breeds of
their nation.” The treaty stated, “The United States agree to suffer said
half Breeds to ocettpy said tract of country; they holding by the same title,
and in the same mannet that other Indian Titles are held.”* This Métis
Teserve, however, was never realized. According to James Hansen, “The
‘half-breed tract’ granted to the eastern Sioux in 1830 was not divided and
made available for more than twenty-five years, despite continued impor-
tunities from the individuals involved. By the time it was available the
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pressure for white settlement was so strong that, in exchange for relin-
quishing their claims to the tract, the mixed bloods were granted cértifi-
cates to obtain federal land elsewhere® Closer to home, the 1863 treaty at
Old Crossing of Red Lake River also included Métis considerations. That
treaty provided for 160 acres to be granted to “each male adult half-breed
or mixed-blood who is velated by blood to the said Chippewas.¥ A de-
tailed list of Métis claimants was recorded in a report of a U.S. commission
investigating “Half-Breed Scrip” relating to the 1854 treaty at La Pointe.
That veport identified several individuals named Jourdain who were liv-
ing at Red Lake at the time of the treaty™ It is not known whether they
were related to the Jourdains at Fort Frances, but the HBC records indicate
that people from the Red Lake area frequented the trading post.?®

In 1870, Nicolas Chatelain was hired to assist Wemyss Siinpson® dur-
ing the first treaty negotiations at Fort Frances. Chatelain was employed
as interpreter, and he was expected to “prepare the minds of the Indians
for the negotiation of a treaty with them,” Simpson failed to achieve a
treaty, but he succeeded in obtaining for the government a temporary
right of way to transport troops under General Wolseley through the Lac
la Pluie area. It was later recalled that Nicolas Chatelain was instrumen-
talin these negotiations and had “used his great influence over the Indi-
ans of the District, in their allowing the volunteers to pass through their
territory in 1870”92 In 1871, the government appointed Simpson, along
with Shinon J. Dawson and Robert Pither, to act as commissioners for an-
other attempt at a treaty, Chatelain again served as interpreter, but the
negotiations failed to achieve their objective. The commissioners tried
and failed again in the summer of 1872, The recent discoveries of gold
and silver in their territory had made the Anishinabeg chiefs difficult to
deal with, and so making a treaty at that time was impossible. A newspa-
per reporter from Winnipeg who attended the treaty negotiations de-
scribed the chiefs as “cranky, obstinate, and difficult to manage.” 3 Daw-
son and Pither met with a smaller number of chiefs at Fort William in
October 1872 but were unable to change the chiefs’ position.#

Meanwhile, negotiations between the HBC and the government of
Canada produced an agreement in 1869 that involved the surrender of
the company’s charter rights in the territory draining into Fludson Bay
(known as Rupert’s Land). On November 18, 1869, the I1BC signed a deed
of surrender to the Crown. The deed of surrender meluded the granting
of titles to lands around HBC posts in the affected territory. An attached
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schedule listed the posts and acreage to be given to the company. In the
Lac la Pluie district, fourteen posts were listed and 1,300 acres specified,
Fort Frances was included on that list, with 500 acres around the post set
side for the company.*5 The HBC deed of surrender was accepted and
onfirmed by an order in council dated June 23, 1870 On June 1, 1872,
nald A. Smith, chief commissioner of the HBC, wrote to Secretary of
e James Aikins and requested permission to instruct the surveyor
general to survey blocks of land around eight HBC posts, including Fort
- Frances.¥ On June 13, 1872, Smith wrole again to Aikins and advised him
_ that the HBC had been granted an additional 140 acres at Fort Frances,
~ bringing the total to 640 acres# In the winter of 187273, dominion land
2 surveyor Charles F. Miles was sent to the Lac la Pluie district to establish
the boundaries of the HBC “reserves.” His survey plan, dated January 7,
1874, depicted an area of 640 acres marked off around Fort Frances,
including the company’s buildings and cemetery.#
The appearance of a government surveyor at Fort Frances after sev-
eral failed treaty negotiations was a cause for alarim among the Anishi-
“nabeg and Métis. When another treaty party arrived in 1873—led by

. Alexander Morris, the Lieutenant-Governor of Manitoba and the North-

.- west Territories—the surveying of HBC claims was an impediment to
. nepotiations. The Fort Frances chief told Morris that if he saw survey
stakes around the HBC post, he would “put them aside.” He explained, “I
~ see signs that the HB.Co, has surveyed. I do not hate them. I only wish
:they should take their reserves on one side. Where their shop stands now
s my property, T think it is three years now since they have had it on.”
' 1118 was evasive in his answer, saying, “1 do not know about that mat-
it will be enquired into. I am taking notes of all these things and am
putting them on paper.
The HBC issue was one of many that was brought into the treaty nego-
 tiations. Chief Mawedopenais raised the issue of including the Métis in
the treaty: “I should not feel happy if I was not to iness with some of my
_children that are around me—those children that we call the Half-breed—
- those that have been born of our women of Indian blood. We wish that
_"they should be counted with us, and have their share of what you have
. promised. We wish you to accept our demands. It is the Half-breeds
- that are actually living amongst us—those that are married to onr
Women” Morris evaded a direct answer, but assured them that he
‘Would communicate their desite to his superiors in Ottawa: “I am sent
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here to treat with the Indians. In Red River, where I came froin, and
where there is a great body of Half-breeds, they must be either white or
Indian. If Indians, they get treaty money; if the Half-breeds call them-
selves white, they get land. All T can do is to refer the matter to the Gov-
ernment at Ottawa, and to recommend what you wish to be granted.”*!
On October 3, 1873, twenty-four Anishinabeg chiefs signed the treaty
later known as Treaty 3. It was later recatled that Nicolas Chatelain used
his great influence “in inducing the Indians to make a Treaty with the Gov-
ernment in 1873.% The text of Treaty 3, however, did not specify how the
HBC or Métis issues were to be resolved. Despite Morris’s assurances to
enquire into complaints about the FIBC land claim at Fort Trances, the gov-
ernment of Canada had already promised the company 640 acres of land
around its post. The HIBC did not immediately receive a land patent at Fort
Prances, but those 640 acres were still effectively removed from availability
to the Anishinabeg ot Métis.” The issue involving the Métis was left en-
tirely silent until Simon J. Dawson was sent to investigate the boundaries
of Indian reserves in Treaty 3 territory. In January 1875, Dawson reported
on the Indian reserves and noted that the Métis had decided to join the
treaty. He explained, “The Half-breeds in the Rainy River District, num-
bering about go persons, have decided on joining the Tndians. They will
require a Reserve laid out for them next summer.”> Surveyor General John
S. Dennis was sent to Fort Frances in September 1875 to determine the re-
serve boundaries. When he arrived, he was met by a “half-breed” delega- :.
tion seeking admission to Treaty 3. On September 12, 1875, Dennis, repre-_'f"
senting Queen Victoria, and Chatelain, acting on behalf of the “Half-breeds
at Fort Frances,” signed a “memorandum of agreement” concerning & _.
adhesion to Treaty 3. The text of the agreement was written as follows: :

This memorandirm of Agreement made and entered into this twelfth
day of September one thousand eight hundred and seventy-five—
Between Nicholas Chatelaine, Indian Interpreter at Port Francis [sic]
and the Rainy River and acting herein solely in the latter capacity for
and as representing the said Halfbreeds, on the one part—And John
Noughton [Stoughton] Dennis, Surveyor General of Dominion Lands
as representing Her Majesty the Queen, through the Governinent of
the Dominion on the other part.

Witnesseth as follows:
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. Whereas the Halfbreeds above described by virtue of their Indian
‘blood ¢laim a certain interest or title in the Iands or Territories in the
‘vicinity of Rainy Lake and the Rainy River for the commutation or sur-
‘render of which claim they ask compensation from the Government.

“And whereas having fully and deliberately discussed and considered
‘the matter, the said Halfbreeds have elected to join in the treaty made
between the Indians and Her Majesty at the North West angle of the
" Lake of the Woods, on the third day of October, 1873, and have ex-
‘pressed a desire thereto and to become subject to the terms and condi-
'.'-tidr'_is thereof in all respects saving as hereafter set forth. It is now
hereby agreed upon by and between the said parties hereto (this agree-
ment however to be subject in all respects to approval and confirma-
‘tion by the Government without which the same shall be considered of
no effect) as follows, that is to say:—-

The Halfbreeds through Nicholas Chatelaine their Chief above nained,
as representing them herein agree as follows, that is to say:-—

That they hereby fully and voluntarily surrender to Her Majesty the
“Queen to be held by Her Majesty; and Her successors forever any and
. all claim right title or interest which they by virtue of their Indian
- blood have or possess in the lands or Territories above described and
. solemnly promise to observe all the terms and conditions of the said
treaty (a copy whereof duly certified by the Honourable the Secretary
of $tate of the Dominion has been this day Placed in the hands of the
said Nicholas Chatelaine.

In consideration of which Her Majesty agrees as follows, that is to say:

That the said Halfbreeds keeping and observing on their part the terins
 and conditions of the said treaty shall receive compensation in the way
of reserves of land, payments, annuities and presents in manner similar
to that set forth in the several respects for the Indians in the said tréaty.
It being understood, however, that any swn expended annually by Fler

| Majesty in the purchase of ammunition and twine for nets for the use of
* the said Half-breeds shall not be taken out of the fifteen hundred Dol-
. laxs set apart by the Treaty for the purchase annually of those articles
* for the Indians, but shall be in addition thereto and shall be a pro-rata

..'_'.__a_mount in the proportion of the nuinber of Hal fbreed parties hereto to
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‘the number of Indians embraced in the Treaty, and it being further un-
._ tstood that the said Halfbreeds shall be entitled to all the benefits of
ﬁ:le said Treaty as fromn the date thereof as regards payments and annui-
ties in the same manuer as if they had been present and had become

- parties to the same at the time of the making thereof.

And whereas the said Halfbreeds desire the land set forth as tracts

" marked (A) and (B) on the rough diagram attached hereto and marked
with the initials of the parties (aforementioned) to this agreement, as
their reserve, (in all eighteen square miles) to which they would be
entitled under the provisions of the treaty, the same is hereby agreed
to on the part of the Government.

Should this Agreement be approved by the Government, the reserves
as above to be sarveyed in due course™

A sketch map showing the proposed “Halfbreed” reserve is shown in
- map 7.2,

Unkept Treaty Promises

TWO years after the treaty adhesion, the Métis still had not received treaty
‘payments and Nicolas Chatelain was unable to receive an explanation

flom Robert Pithet, the Indian agent at Fort Frances. Chatelain wrote to J.
5, Dennis to yemind him, “When I met you at Fort Prancis [sic], you kindly
consented to grant to the French Half Breed of that place, a certain tract of
land along the Rainy Lake to be their Reserve. Those Half Breed [sic]
were to receive annuities like the Indians, some cattle and tools for farm-

s

1g and [ was to be the chief of the Fort Francis [sic] Half Breed.”*® Chat-
elain informed Dennis that he could not continue to be Métis chief be-
cause he was still being paid by the government,” but he had written on
~their behalf in order to get the government’s attention to their situation.
Dennis forwarded Chatelain’s letter to the Indian Depattment, and Pither
was instructed to report how many “Half-breeds” at Fort Frances had
‘been admitted into treaty by being paid an annuity in past years. He was
a].SO told to meet with them and ascertain whether they would be willing
to join Chief Little Fagle’s (Mickeseese) band on Rainy Lake, whose re-
setve adjoined land set apart for the Métis.*® The instructions [urther
stated that the department could not encourage separate “Half Breed
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Bands” and added that “Half breeds” who were paid as Indians prior to
the passing of the Act of 1876 must continue to be so paid, as well as re-
ceive cattle and farming implements as Indians.*

Robert Pither investigated the matter and reported that the Métis who
had received annuities numbered seven families containing forty-eight
people, Pither also interviewed Chief Mawandopenais and recorded his
answers to questions about the Fort Frances Mélis and their inclusion in
Treaty 3. Chief Mawandopenais said, “During the Treaty at the NW, Angle
one of my requests was that the Half Breeds of Fort Frances should be taken
into the Treaty and paid as Indians, and the Governor promised to repre-
sent my request to the Department.” He further explained, “When I re-
quested the Half Breeds to be taken into the Treaty it was not as a separate
Band but to join whichever band they chose” However, he also added what
he had been told by Nicolas Chatelain: “Tn the summer of 1875 the Surveyor
General came to settle the question of Reserves, and Mr. Chastellain [sic]
and some of the Half Breeds had an interview with him, and he told them
that the Department had consented to their proposition sent down by Mr.
Dawson, and a separate Reserve was directed to be surveyed for them,"®

On January 12, 1877 Pither wrote to Joseph A. N, Provencher, commis-
sioner of Inndian Affairs in Winnipeg, and forwarded a request from Nice-
las Chatelaine and other “Half-Breeds” stating that they still had not been
receiving the same payiments as Indians. They wished to know whether
the department intended to give them an allotment of land or allow them
to take homesteads as whites.t On February 12, 1877, Provencher wrote to
Pither and asked hiim to report on the number of “half-breeds” asking for
a grant of land at or in the vicinity of Fort Frances. He also asked for the
number of payments already received by the “half-breeds” of Fort Frances
as Indians, and on the extent and exactlocality of the reserve surveyed for
them, on whose instructions, and at whose demand such a reserve was
surveyed.®2 On February 20, 1877, Pither replied that the reserves were
surveyed under the instructions of the surveyor general (J. 5. Dennis) aid
that the demand had been made by Nicolas Chatelain on behalf of him-
self and the other “Half Breeds” of Fort Frances.® On February 28, 1877,
Pither wrote again to Provencher and specified that the “half-breeds”
who had not taken pay as Indians were “Nicholas Chastellain [sic], Louis
Jourdain, John Linklater,”®* his wife, and six children. Pither noted that
there were other “half-breeds” there, but they belonged to Red River or
Winnipeg and were entitled to land in that vicinity.®
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" “After receiving no answer to the petition, Nicolas Chatelain traveled
o Winnipeg to make a claim for "Half-breed Scrip.” On August 27, 1878,
he appealed before a Dominion Lands agent and made his mark on

laim, The apphcatlon noted that the information had been read

Chatelain ful ther explained that he had waited so long to file his chIm
because he had received “promises from the officers of the government
that I was to get my scrip at Fort Frances with many other people of that
peality” He also explained that after the government failed to live up
to its promise, he decided to file his claim in Winnipeg. Chatelain would
have to wait ten years, only to find out that his Manitoba scrip applica-
fion had been disallowed by the Deputy Minister of the Interior after
consulting with Bbeneezer McColl of the Indian Department.*

While Chatelain waited for an answer, the government began to for-
mulate a plan to extinguish the distinct identity of the Fort I'rances
Metxs On April g, 1880, James F. Graham, the acting Indian superinten-
dent in Winnipeg, wrote to Pither regarding a grandson of Nicholas
Chatelain who wanted to take advantage of the amended Indian Act of

76 by refunding the annuity money paid to him and receiving sctip in-
stead. Nicholas Chatelain, who was admitted into treaty in 1875 but never
_recewed any annuity money, also sought to receive scrip.” Ebeneezer Me-
Coll, inspector of Indian agencies in Winnipeg, wrote to Pither and in-
structed him as to how to deal with halfbreeds who were connected to
Treaty 3. McColl stated that he had been directed by the Department of
Indian Affairs to prohibit any Métis who had taken scrip from being paid

reaty annuities, McColl explained that this measure would “prevent
complications and impositions upon the government.”® This new policy
was designed to exclude any Métis who did not join Little Eagle’s band,
including Nicolas Chatelain. Pither’s annual report for 1880 on the Couchi-
ching Agency included a description of Little Eagle’s Rainy Lake reserve.
Pither noled, “The half-breeds who receive annuities are paid with this
band.”® McColl’s 1882 annual report on the Manitoba Superintendency
region described the “Rainy Lake Band under Chief Mickesee™

"-:.:fl:“_his band is principally composed of French half-breed settlers, who
_.’f‘n’el‘e living at Fort Francis [sic] at the time treaty was made with the
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Indians. It embraces thirty-one families, of whom about one-half
have gardens and houses on the reserve, They produce annually suf-
ficient corn and potatoes for their own use. The interpreter, Chastel-
[ain, is desirous of severing his connection with this band, and
withdrawing from the trealy, as he wishes to obtain a homestead
where he is living on Rainy River. 1 would respectfully recom-
mend that the application of this worthy, venerable half-breed be fa-
vorably entertained,™

Chatelain’s request was nof granted, and the Métis’ struggle to secure

treaty rights continued. On June 27, 1885, a letter and attached census was - ° '

sent o the prime minister of Canada from the “Half Breeds of Fort Fran-
ces.” They asserted that in the Treaty of 1873 they were promised twelve
dallars per person for the fivst year and five dollars for the second year,
which they had not received. They also stated that when Surveyor Gen-
eral Dennis passed through Fort Frances in 1875, he promised them seven
head of cattle, farin implements, and other equipment in similar propo
tion to the Anishinabeg bands in Treaty 3. An attached list provided the
names of the Métis who had not received annuities in 1873 and 1874. Eight
families with a total of forty-five people were owed $782.00 for unpaid
annuities (see list below),

Unpaid Annuities for the “Half-Breeds of Rainy Lale”
John Jourdain

Marguerite Oscchipuee (wife)
Rosette Jourdain ({daughter)
Marie Anne Jourdain (daughter)
Marie Jourdain (daughter)

John Jourdain (son)

Julie Jourdain {daughter)

Francois Mainville
Marguerite Jourdain (wife)
Alexis Mainville {son)
William Mainville (son)
Francoise Mainville (daughter)
Joseph Mainville (son)
Elizabeth Mainville (daughter)
Pierre Mainville (son)
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Joseph Jourdain
Isabelle Menassaokyikok {wife)
Charlotte Jourdain {daughter)
Suzanne Jourdain (daughter)
Eliza Jourdain {daughter)
Basile Jourdain (son)

Simon Jourdain
Archange Mainville (wife)
Pierre Jourdain {son)
Isabelle Jourdain (daughter)
Joseph Jourdain {(son)
Simon Jourdain (son)
Marie Anne Jourdain (daughter)

John Jourdain
" Julie Serro (wife)
Z0é Jourdain (daughter)

Louis Jourdain
~ Angelique Mainville (wife)
~ Paul Jourdain (son)

Nichoias Chatelain
~ David Chatelain (son)
Xavier Chatelain (son)

Joseph Guimond
Elzabeth Linklater (wife)
Charles Guimond (son)
Marie Guimond (daughter}
Catherine Guimond (daughter)
Joseph Guimond (sor)
Marguerite Guimond (daughter)
Leonille Guimond (daughter)

__-_fDilncan Campbell Scott, then a clerk in the Indian Department,

" launched an investigation into the unpaid annuities issue and found that
none of the Métis had been paid in 1873 or 1874. Scott noted that some of
the women may have been paid under their aboriginal names, but it was
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impossible to trace them/? Lawrence Vankoughnet, deputy superinten-
dent gencral of Indian Affairs, reported Scott’s findings to Sir John A.
Macdonald, prime minister and superintendent general of Indian Affairs.
Vankoughnet reported that the Métis had not been paid annuities in 1873
and 1874, but because they had become members of the “Rainy Lake Band
of Indians of Chief Mickasisi,” they were not entitled to the additional
cattle or farm implements they had claimed in their petition.”

On August 1, 1885, . D. Raine of Port Arthur wrote to Simon J. Dawson,
now a member of the Canadian Parliament, and reported on a meeting
with the “Half-Breeds of Rainy Lake and Rainy River” at Tort Frances.
Raine noted that John Jourdain had replaced their appointed chief, Nicolas
Chatelain, because Chatelain was still employed as an interpreter for the
government. The Métis complained that although they had elected to be
treated as Indians, they had not been paid annuity and other treaty bene-
fits.? Dawson forwarded Raine’s letter to the Indian Department, and local
Indian agent Pither was again instructed to investigate the matter. Pither
reported that the Métis entered the treaty in 1875 and had been paid as
Indians. He added that when Chief Little Eagle received his cattle, he gave
two cows to the “Half Breeds”—one to Simon Jourdain and cne to Francois
Mainville—and they had been receiving their share of agricultural imple-
ments.”® On September 18, 1885, Pither wrote again to McColl and reported
that the Fort Frances “Half Breeds” had not been promised a treaty pay-
ment of $12.00 per capita in 1873 because they had not joined the treaty
until 1875. He added that in 1875 Louis Jourdain had been paid in Long
Sault Band No. 1 under his Indian name. Joseph Jourdain's wife had been
paid alone in 18741875, and none of the other wives had been paid until
1875, with their husbands. Pither concluded that he found no information
that the Métis had been promised treaty payments in 1873 and 1874.

Duncan Campbell Scott was again assigned the task of sorting out the
Fort Frances Métis issue in Treaty 3. Scott reported that it had always been
the custom of the Department of Indian Affairs to pay arrears of annu-
ity from the date of the treaty to those Indians who signed after the
treaty had been made. He noted that it remained to be decided whether
this would be allowed in the case of the “half-breeds of Rainy Lake and
Rainy River.” [f they signed the treaty, Scott believed they had a right to
arrears.”” On October 13, 1885, Lawrence Vankoughnet wrote to Ebeneezer
McColl and advised him that there was no reason why the arrears from
the date of Treaty 3 should not be paid to the so-called half-breeds of Fort
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Frances, as such had invariably been the custom when Indians came into
- treaty.”® McColl then wrote to Pither on October 19, 1885, and provided
" the same explanation.”
~ On August 9, 1886, the “Half Breeds of Fort Frances” wrote to the dep-
. _uty minister of Indian Affairs and complained again about not receiving
" what had been promised in the treaty.™ This time, J. 1. McLean, another
clerk in the Indian Departinent, was assigned the task of investigating the
issue. He reported that the “half-breeds” of Fort Frances had accepted the
: t__featy in 1875 and had been paid arrears on the annuity for 1873 and 1874
n December 14, 1875. McLean also assérted that the Métis had joined
ainy Lake Band No. 1 under Chief Little Eagle or Mickeseese.® On Oc-
ober 1, 1886, McColl wrote to the superintendent general and reported
hat the records in his office showed that the Fort Frances Métis appeared
. 1o have received all that was due them, in accordance with treaty stipula-
' tiohs.£2 On October 11, 1886, Vankoughnet wrote to McColl and enclosed
a copy of a letter from “Halfbreed Indians of Fort Frances” concerning
promises alleged to have been made to them in 1875, He asked McColl to
Cconfirm that they had received all that they were due under the treaty.®
On October 29, 1886, Vankoughnet wrote again to McColl and advised
him to instruct Pither to inform the “halfbreeds” of Fort Frances that
they had received all the supplies to which they were entitled under the
‘treaty.®
" The Department of Indian Affairs annual account book for the year
1886 shows that the Fort Frances Métis were finally paid their arrears on
“{reaty annuities for the years 1873 and 1874.% The list of payees was simi-
lar to the 1885 petition, with the addition of several family members. The
-‘names and amounts are shown in table 7.4.

' After being paid their arrears in 188y, Nicolas Chatelain and his sons
David and Xavier joined the Couchiching Indian Band.® On July 12, 1887,
L J..AlthUl Leveque, inspector of Indian agencies at Rat Portage, wrote
his annual report and included a description of the “Coutcheeching [sic]
Band and Reserve,” He reported, “These Indians nominally belong to the
Ojibbewa tribe, but inany are half-breeds with a large admixture of French

~blood. . . . This band is composed of one hundred and two Roman Catho-
lics, five of the Church of England and twenty-six pagans. There is no
church situated on the reserve, but the Roman Cathlic priest stationed at
Fort Frances holds service every alternate Sunday in the school-house,
which is well attended.”
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TABLE 7.4. Payments in 1886 to Fort Frances Métis
for Arrears on Treaty Annuities

Name Antount

J. B. Jourdain, family of 3 $s1.00
John Jourdain, family of 7 $119.00
Simon Jourdain, family of 8 $136.00
Francis Mainville, family of 8 $136.00
Joseph Jourdain, family of 6 $97.00
Joseph Guinard [Guimond], family of 8 $136.00
Louis Jourdain, family of 3 $51.00
Nicholas Chatelaine, family of 3 $51.00
Catherine Mainville $17.00

Total $794.00

On August g, 1887, Pither reported on the Coutcheeching Agency and
wrote, “T held a council meeting and re-elected councilors; gave out the
supplies, paid the band, delivered the fwo oxen sent for the Coutcheech-
ing [sic] band, and settled the dispute between the half-breeds and the In-
dians, in reference {o their reserves, to the satisfaction of both parties.”®
However, a year later the issue resurfaced when Simon J. Dawson wrote to
Vankoughnet and reported that “the Indians of Rainy River and the Lake
of the Woods held a meeting at Hungry Hall, at which the claims of the
Half breeds living among them came under their consideration.” Daw-
son noted that during the negotiations preceding the signing of Treaty 3,
“a promise was made to them, the Indians, that their kindred the Haif
breeds living among them should in respect to rights, privileges and
land grants, be treated as the Half breeds of Manitoba had been.” Daw-
son added,

The Half breeds in the section of country to which I refer are not nu-
merous. At the time of the outbreak in 1869—70 they were steadfastly
loyal and it seems hardly fair that they should be placed in a worse
position than were the half-breeds of Manitoba who took up arms to
enforce their rights and, I may add, with perfect success. The answer,
heretofore always given to the effect that nothing can be done until the
question of the disputed territories is seitled is nof, in my opinion a
very fair answer. The claims of these poor people can be easily dealt
with, if the government will only set about the matter in the determi-
nation to have it arranged.®
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Despite Dawson's eloquent plea, the reply from the Indian Department
“repeated the same old excuse for inaction. The department’s position
stated that when the promises were made to the Métis, the lands in
Treaty 3 were supposed to have belonged to Canada, but Ontario had

advanced a claim to that territory. “The question of ownership is, how-
ever, being tested by a suit which is at present before the Imperial Privy

Council and when a final decision has been rendered this whole matter
“will receive special and early consideration.™ In December 1888, the
- Privy Council decided in favor of Ontario in Regina v. 5. Catherine’s Milling
: ‘and Lumber Company* Suffice it to say that the Fort Frances Métis claim for
' fa_i_:'inclusion in Treaty 3 never received “special” or “early consideration”
after the St. Catherine’s decision.”

Nicolas Chatelain died on March 6, 1892, and his passing signaled an
‘end of an eia in the fight by the Fort France Métis to be recognized as a
_“distinct nation within Treaty 3. He had long since given up on the idea of
- ‘Jeading the Fort Frances Métis on their small reserve on Rainy Lake. He
_h'éd also failed in his attempt to obtain scrip in Manitoba. The HBC, on
‘the other hand, had obtained a large grant of land at Fort Frances. It was

fhe land where Chatelain and many other Métis had worked and lived and
likely expected to remain after they joined Treaty 3 in 1875. The HBC sold
- the land and profited handsomely. The Métis, on the other hand, were
fokced to move to the shore lands of Rainy Lake and become members of
' Chief Little Eagle’s band. Chatelain must have been disillusioned with the
Canadian government for breaking the treaty promises made to him in
" 1875. However, he remained until his death a respected figure among the
. Yort Prances Métis and Anishinabeg. Ebeneezer McColl described him in
1889 as “a French Half-Breed, one of nature’s noblemen of commanding
. presence, being six feet four inches in height, 98 years of age and totally
Bind. Even now, neither agent, not any other person within the District

5 a greater influence over the Indians thar this remarkable man.”*

Conclusion

The Fort Frances Métis evolved as a fur trade community in the shadows
of the HBC trading post. They were part of a larger Métis nation that
evolved principally in the aftermath of the major reorganizations of the
fur trade industry that began in 1805. The Fort Frances Métis self-identified
as a clistinct community apart from the Anishinabeg and were linked
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together by ties of marriage, both within the community and with other
Métis communities in the Red River area and wider fur trade territory.
They elected their own leaders and met together to discuss political is-
sues, At the time of trealy negotiations with the Canadian government
in the period 1873-1875, the Métis were recognized as a distinct group of
aboriginal people with an interest in or right to the land. They joined the
treaty expecting to obtain the same benefits as the Anishinabeg. Nicolas
Chatelain, acting as their chief, was promised that the Fort Frances Métis
would have their own reserve lands and treaty benefits. These promises
rang hollow when Canadian government officials decided to extinguish
their distinct Métis identity. Forced to cheose o become either Indian or
white, many opted to join the Anishinabeg on Rainy Lake under the leader-
ship of Chief Little Eagle. Nicolas Chatelain reluctantly followed and ulti-
mately accepted treaty payments, but in doing so he and the other Fort
France Métis were no longer recognized by the government as a distinct
nation, The Canadian government's position, however, did not prevent
the Métis from continiting to self-identify as a distinct community in the
Fort Frances atea, Currently, talks are under way between representatives
of the Fort Frances Métis and the federal and provincial governments in
order to come to a political agreement on resource harvesting and other
issttes linked to the legal rights of the historic Métis community.
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